Board of Registration in Dentistry

General Session Agenda & Minutes

November 5, 2025    
(Approved by the Board on January 7, 2026)


COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
NOTICE OF THE REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING OF THE

BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY
November 5, 2025
Via WebEx from 250 Washington Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
AGENDA 

If you need reasonable accommodations in order to participate in the meeting, contact the DPH ADA Coordinator Ms. Stacy Hart by email at Stacy.Hart@mass.gov or by phone at 857-274-1120, in advance of the meeting. While the Board will do its best to accommodate you, certain accommodations may require distinctive requests or the hiring of outside contractors and may not be available if requested immediately before the meeting.  Only the General Session is open to the public and may be viewed and/or heard via WebEx.

WebEx Information: Please send an email to Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH at barbara.a.young@mass.gov at least 24 hours before the meeting to request an email invitation to attend this meeting by video conference. The invitation will contain a direct link to the meeting.

You may also obtain video and audio access to all sessions of the meeting open to the 
public through the following link: 

https://eohhs.webex.com/eohhs/j.php?MTID=m296e4f406ff45715352ef46d2365ada8
Call-in number for audio-only attendance: 1- (617) 315-0704 (toll) or 1-(650) 479-3208 (toll) only if you have no access to video conference.
Access Code:  2539 814 0422
Attendee ID:   #              Password:    BORID2025!
	8:30 a.m.
	
	CALL TO ORDER, DETERMINATION OF QUORUM, AND  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	
	

	8:35 a.m.
	I
	GENERAL SESSION

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS:

1. Nominations for Board Chair and Board Secretary for 2026
2. Consideration of Proposed BORID Meeting Calendar for 2026
3. Consideration of Minutes from the BORID meetings on:
a.  September 10, 2025

b.  October 8, 2025

       4.   Consideration of Proposed Staff Action Policy on Complaints      

              Alleging Unable to Obtain Records

       5.   Monthly Probation Report
       6.   Flex session

	
	Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Board Counsel

Michael Egan, Esq.

Probation Dept. Coordinator 

K. Fishman

	
	II
	COMPLAINT RESOLUTION: PENDING BOARD MATTERS

1.
DEN-2022-0029:     Maryann Soukkavong, RDA
2.
DEN-2022-0032:     Dr. Steven Goguen
3.
DEN-2022-0031      Elizabeth Traub, RDA
4.
DEN-2025-0038:     Dr. Bryan Cousin


	
	Dental Investigators:

E. Mulligan

	10:00 a.m.
	III
	EXECUTIVE SESSION  (closed to the public)

	
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH



	11:00 a.m.
	IV
	MGL c. 112, s. 65C SESSION   (closed to the public)


	 
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH

	4:00 p.m.
	
	ADJOURNMENT
	
	


MASSACHUSETTS BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY

250 Washington Street, Boston, MA  02108
GENERAL SESSION MINUTES 

 November 5, 2025
Present:  Dr. Michael Scialabba, Board Chair; Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Board Secretary; 
Dr. Richard T. Miller; Dr. Sabina Malla; Ms. Jacyn Stultz, MS, RDH; Ms. Stacy Haluch, RDH; Ms. Jennifer McKeon, M.Ed., RDH, CDA; Ms. Ailish Wilkie, MS, CPHRM, CPPS, CPHQ
Absent:   Dr. Seema Jacob; Dr. Kasra Rafia
Board Staff Present: Barbara A. Young, RDH, Executive Director; Kyle Rippstein, Associate Executive Director; Board Counsel Michael Egan, Esq.; OPP Investigators Kathleen O’Connell, Jaris Bueno, Eileen Mulligan, Rhonda Heard, Melissa Hebert and Deborah El-Majdoubi; Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman.
Board Staff Absent:  Dr. Liliana DiFabio, Supervisor of Investigations

	Motion:
	At 8:31 a.m., to adopt the proposed agenda for today’s meeting


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba

	Second:
Vote:
	Ms. Stacy Haluch
In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 
Dr. Richard T. Miller, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Stacy Haluch, 

Ms. Jennifer McKeon

Opposed: None
Abstain: None
(Dr. Sabina Malla and Ms. Ailish Wilkie were unavailable for the vote.)




Administrative Matters:
1.
Nominations for Board Chair and Board Secretary for 2026 – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Ms. Young asked the Board members for their nominations for Board Chair and Board Secretary for 2026.  


Dr. Trowbridge nominated Dr. Scialabba for Board Chair and Ms. Haluch seconded that nomination.  Dr. Scialabba accepted the nomination.  No other nominations were submitted.

Ms. Haluch nominated Dr. Trowbridge for Board Secretary and Dr. Scialabba seconded that nomination.  Dr. Trowbridge accepted the nomination.  No other nominations were submitted.  


Ms. Young noted the elections for Board Chair and Board Secretary will be included in the General Session agenda for the next Board meeting on Wednesday, December 3, 2025.

2.
Consideration of Proposed BORID Meeting Dates for 2026 – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Dr. Scialabba asked why July 8th was selected instead of July 1st; Ms. Haluch noted she is fine with changing the July meeting to July 1st.  Dr. Trowbridge agreed with the change as well.  

	Motion:
	To adopt the Proposed BORID Meeting Calendar for 2026, as amended


	Motion Made By:
	Ms. Stacy Haluch  


Second:
               Ms. Jennifer McKeon
Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




   Dr. Richard T. Miller, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Stacy Haluch, 




   Ms. Jennifer McKeon




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None




   (Dr. Sabina Malla and Ms. Ailish Wilkie were unavailable for the vote.)

3.
Review of the General Session Minutes from the BORID Meeting on September 10, 2025 – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

	Motion:
	To approve the General Session Minutes of the BORID Meeting on September 10, 2025


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge

	Second:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba     

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Ms. Jacyn Stultz

Opposed: None
Abstain: Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Jennifer McKeon

(Dr. Sabina Malla and Ms. Ailish Wilkie were unavailable for the vote.)




4.
Review of the General Session Minutes from the BORID Meeting on October 8, 2025 – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Ms. Young informed the Board she has not finished drafting these minutes and plans on presenting these minutes to the Board for its consideration during its next meeting in December. 

5.
Consideration of Proposed Staff Action Policy on Complaints Alleging Unable to Obtain Records – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Atty. Egan advised the Board this proposed policy was suggested by the Board members as this issue is often resolved between licensees and patients when the licensee is notified of the formal complaint.  Dr. Trowbridge asked if the policy will include a timeline for when the licensee must respond; Atty. Egan replied there is no set period included in the policy but the plan is to give the licensee 21 days to provide proof, to Board staff, that the licensee has responded to the patient's request by providing proof the records were sent to the patient or the patient's designee.   
	Motion:
	To Adopt the Proposed Staff Action Policy of Selected Patient Record Complaints 


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba

	Second:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Stacy Haluch, 

Ms. Jennifer McKeon

Opposed: None
Abstain: None

(Dr. Sabina Malla and Ms. Ailish Wilkie were unavailable for the vote.)




6.
Monthly Probation Report – Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman


Ms. Young presented the report on behalf of Ms. Fishman; the Board had no questions for Ms. Young.  
Flex Session:
1.
Dr. Scialabba asked about the notices sent to licensees that states an administrative hold has been placed on their licenses at the direction of the Mass. Department of Revenue (DOR) due to outstanding tax obligations.  Dr. Scialabba suggested placing such a hold that prevents an applicant from obtaining a license and licensees from renewing their licenses may create an access to care issue.  Dr. Scialabba noted he's heard from dentists that their dental assistants have been unable to renew their licenses and asked if DOR contacted the licensees individually.  Ms. Young noted we are prohibited by law from issuing any new licenses and from renewing existing licenses unless and until the individual resolves their tax issues with DOR.  Ms. Young also noted the individual is not required to pay all outstanding tax obligations in full as entering into a payment plan with DOR is acceptable.  Ms. Stultz suggested this law is astounding and asked if the Mass. Dental Society (MDS) had notified its members; Dr. Scialabba replied to his knowledge the MDS did not notify its members.  Ms. Stultz suggested adding an advisory on this issue to the Board's website.  

2.
Dr. Trowbridge asked for an updated on the proposed changes to 234 CMR; Atty. Egan replied the documents are being prepared by executive staff for a meeting in two days.  Ms. Stultz asked what should Board members say when this issue is raised during the Board's presentation at the Yankee Dental Congress in late January; Atty. Egan suggested stating the matter is still in progress.  

3.
Ms. Stultz asked if Dr. Mina Paul has submitted an update from the latest ADEX meeting; Dr. Scialabba replied he will ask Dr. Paul to address the Board during the Board's December meeting as he is unable to attend the ADEX meeting this year.  Ms. McKeon noted she is also unable to attend the ADEX meeting this year.
4.
Dr. Trowbridge stated he heard from several dentists who are unhappy recruiting letters had been sent to dental assistants by Board staff; Ms. Young replied no such letter has been sent by anyone connected to the dental team or by anyone else within DPH to her knowledge.  Ms. Stultz noted she got the same letter but noted it was from a different agency within DPH.  Dr. Trowbridge stated the letter came from the speech audiology board but Atty. Egan advised that letter is likely not legitimate.  Dr. Scialabba noted it is okay to recruit employees noting private companies do so quite frequently.  Dr. Trowbridge stated he will refer the email he received to Ms. Young for follow up.

Dr. Sabina Malla and Ms. Ailish Wilkie joined the meeting at 9:03 a.m.

 Complaint Resolution – Investigator Melissa Hebert
--In the Matter of DEN-2022-0029: Maryann Soukkavong, RDA
Ms. Jennifer McKeon recused herself from the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Infection control violations


	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Hebert informed the Board it is alleged the licensee failed to follow proper infection control procedures discovered during an unannounced inspection on 5/23/19 of the dental practice where the licensee worked.  Ms. Hebert noted the licensee failed to respond to the original staff assignment and has failed to respond to this complaint but noted the licensee's dental assistant license expired in October 2019.  Ms. Hebert noted the licensee is also licensed as a pharmacy technician.  Dr. Scialabba asked if a hold can be placed on her license; Atty. Egan replied the licensee would need to go through the reactivation process but a note could be added to her license file that states the licensee must respond to this complaint and address the Board if and when she seeks to reactivate her expired dental assistant license.  
Ms. Stultz asked if the pharmacy board is aware of this issue; Ms. Young replied the pharmacy board has not been notified.  Atty. Egan noted he can check with the legal unit if such a referral is appropriate but noted the pharmacy board cannot enforce a dental complaint.  



	Motion:
	To dismiss the complaint without prejudice and to place a note on the licensee's license file indicating the licensee may not reactivate her expired license unless and until this matter is addressed by the licensee

	
	

	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge


	Second:

Vote:


	Ms. Jacyn Stultz 
In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 
Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie
Opposed: None
Abstain: None



Complaint Resolution – Investigator Eileen Mulligan

--In the Matter of DEN-2022-0032: Dr. Steven Goguen

Ms. Jennifer McKeon recused herself from the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Employment of an unlicensed dental assistant 



	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Mulligan informed the Board it is alleged the licensee employed a dental assistant (Elizabeth Traub, DA08211) who practiced without a license from January 2016 to June 2016.  But Ms. Mulligan noted the licensee sold his practice and retired in August 2025.  Also, Ms. Mulligan noted the licensee stated he does not recall employing this dental assistant but indicated Ms. Traub stated she had just graduated from dental assisting school and no one asked her for a copy of her license when she started working for the licensee.  

Ms. Stultz asked if the licensee submitted an application to place his license on retired status; Ms. Mulligan replied he has not.  Ms. Mulligan also noted the licensee failed to provide proof he completed the required infection control course when requested as part of this investigation. 



	Motion:
	To dismiss the complaint with an advisory letter on the licensure and continuing education requirements

	
	

	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba


	Second:

Vote:


	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge
In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 

Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie

Opposed: None
Abstain: None



Complaint Resolution – Investigator Eileen Mulligan

--In the Matter of DEN-2022-0031: Elizabeth Traub, RDA

Ms. Jennifer McKeon recused herself from the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Practicing on an expired dental assistant license



	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Mulligan informed the Board this licensee is the dental assistant employed by Dr. Steven Goguen who practiced  without a license from January to June 2016. 



	Motion:
	To dismiss the complaint with an advisory letter on the licensure and infection control requirements

	
	

	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba



	Second:

Vote:


	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge

In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 

Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie

Opposed: None
Abstain: None



Complaint Resolution – Investigator Eileen Mulligan

--In the Matter of DEN-2025-0038: Dr. Bryan Cousin

The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Infection control violations, Anesthesia/Sedation violations, Employment of an unlicensed dental assistant



	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Mulligan informed the Board the licensee's dental office was inspected on 4/29/25 and several violations were found including the licensee's employment of a dental assistant (Rachel Smith, DA102632) whose license had expired.  Ms. Mulligan noted the licensee remediated all deficiencies noting the licensee stated he closed his office and his dental assisting school during the pandemic.  Ms. Mulligan noted the dental assistant at issue did leave the licensee's practice and has since obtained her license.  Atty. Egan asked if the licensee indicated he was providing training to on the job trained (OJT) dental assistants; Ms. Mulligan replied he did noting the licensee stated he believed individuals needed to obtain hands-on clinical training before they were eligible for dental assistant licensure.  

Atty. Egan asked how bad were the infection control violations found during the inspection; Ms. Mulligan replied the licensee conducted inconsistent spore testing and failed to sterilize handpieces after each use.  Also, Ms. Mulligan noted the licensee's disinfectant spray was expired and he failed to maintain the sterility of his lab burs and endodontic files.  Plus Ms. Mulligan noted the licensee's emergency drug kit was expired.  


	Motion:
	To refer the matter to the Office of Prosecution for the Issuance of an Order to Show Cause and authorize the resolution of the matter with a Consent Agreement for Reprimand

	
	

	Motion Made By:
	Ms. Jacyn Stultz


	Second:

Vote:


	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge

In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 

Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jennifer McKeon
Opposed: None
Abstain: None



The Board took its morning recess at 9:45 a.m. and resumed its meeting at 10:02 a.m.
	Motion:
	At 10:02 a.m. to enter a closed Executive Session



	Motion Made By:
	Ms. Jacyn Stultz 


Second:

   Ms. Ailish Wilkie 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




   Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 




   Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jennifer McKeon




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None
	Motion:
	At 10:10 a.m. to enter a closed MGL c. 12,  §65C Session



	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba 


Second:

   Dr. Thomas Trowbridge 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




   Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 




   Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jennifer McKeon




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None
The Board recessed for lunch at 12:09 p.m. and resumed its meeting at 1:01 p.m.
Motion:

   At 2:45 p.m. to adjourn the meeting
Motion Made By:
   Dr. Michael Scialabba
Second:

Dr. Richard T. Miller
Vote:


In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 




Ms. Stacy Haluch, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jennifer McKeon




Opposed: None



Abstain: None
Respectfully submitted,

Barbara A. Young, RDH, JD
Executive Director

DATED:   December 23, 2025
2

